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A Niño de su osita rubia—siempre.


“Your heart knows when you meet the right man. There is no doubt that Nicky is the one I want to spend my life with.”

—Elizabeth Taylor

Wedding to Conrad Nicholson Hilton, May 6, 1950
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“I just want to be with Michael, to be his wife. This is, for me, the beginning of a happy end.”

—Elizabeth Taylor

Wedding to Michael Wilding, February 21, 1952
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“I have given him my eternal love. . . . This marriage will last forever. For me it will be third time lucky.”

—Elizabeth Taylor

Wedding to Mike Todd, February 2, 1957
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“I have never been happier in my life. . . . We will be on our honeymoon for thirty or forty years.”

—Elizabeth Taylor

Wedding to Eddie Fisher, May 12, 1959
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“I’m so happy you can’t believe it. . . . I love him enough to stand by him, no matter what he might do, and I would wait.”

—Elizabeth Taylor

Wedding to Richard Burton, March 15, 1964
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“There will be bloody no more marriages or divorces. We are stuck like chicken feathers to tar—for lovely always.”

—Elizabeth Taylor

Second wedding to Richard Burton, October 10, 1975
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“John is the best lover I’ve ever had. . . . I want to spend the rest of my life with him and I want to be buried with him.”

—Elizabeth Taylor

Wedding to John Warner, December 4, 1976
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SHIMMERING in blue sequins and periwinkle eye shadow, Elizabeth Taylor strode onto the stage of the Mark Hellinger Theater to present the 1981 Antoinette Perry Award for Broadway’s best musical. Her diamond necklace with its sapphire pendant bobbed against her bosom as the television cameras zoomed in on her imposing cleavage. Viewers were mesmerized.

As she started to speak, the entire audience suddenly rose to give her a standing ovation. Wildly cheering, the crowd paid homage to the woman whose beauty had for so long enchanted America. Now ripe and opulent at forty-nine, she no longer looked like the little girl who had ridden to glory in National Velvet; but the audience did not care. She could still bestow a touch of magic.

For years they had watched her suffer through illnesses, injuries, and heartbreaks, plus the scandals of her many marriages and divorces. They had witnessed her plummeting box-office appeal and gasped as she ate and drank to excess, ballooning into obesity. Seeing her glamour fade and her star falter, they had expected her to capsize, but somehow she had managed to survive—and now here she was dazzling them again, fresh from the triumph of her Broadway debut in The Little Foxes.

As she gushed her thanks, rambled on in her presentation, and even giggled as she mispronounced the names of the people she was supposed to honor, the audience whistled and stomped and screamed its approval. People knew that there would never be another star like this violet-eyed beauty. Her life had been extraordinary. She was the last of her kind. She had earned this resounding tribute.



CHAPTER 1


SARA TAYLOR WAS FRANTIC. She did not want Elizabeth to waste any film in this movie because her role was simply too small to justify such an extravagance. So as the lights dimmed on the Jane Eyre sound stage, she hid behind the director and started signaling to her daughter. Crossing her pudgy arms on her breast, Sara fluttered her eyes and lifted her head to heaven. The little girl in front of the camera strained to see her mother, who quickly put a finger to her neck; a signal that meant “You’re overdoing it.”

Earlier, Elizabeth saw her mother touch her stomach; that meant her voice was too shrill. A finger to the cheek was a secret signal to smile more. Now, seeing Sara plop her hands on her heart, Elizabeth knew she needed to put more emotion into her performance.

The scene called for the little girl to die of pneumonia, and the stage mother was determined that it be a perfect death and in one take. Still, Sara Taylor might have risked a few extra takes if she had thought her precious little angel was being upstaged by Margaret O’Brien and Peggy Ann Garner, the leading child stars in 1944.

Elizabeth Taylor was merely a featured player under contract to Metro-Goldwyn-Mayer studios and on loan to 20th Century-Fox. She had yet to reach star status. The difference between “featured player” and “star” was the difference between obscurity and celebrity—between $150 a week and $5,000 a week.

MGM beauticians styled hair for featured players. The stars were coiffed by Sidney Guilaroff, studio hairdresser extraordinaire. Wardrobe girls fitted featured players. The stars were dressed by Helen Rose, the studio designer. Clearly, there was a substantial difference between a featured player and a star—but it was a difference that Sara Taylor would soon overcome.

Like an antebellum lady with a swansdown fan, Sara Taylor hid her driving ambition behind a soft-spoken facade. A diminutive woman, she spoke with honey-dripping sweetness. She called her husband “Daddy,” her daughter “my angel,” and her son “my sweet lambie pie.” Everyone else was simply “my dear.” She understood the importance of meeting the right people, and tried always to be in the right place at the right time. She demonstrated her shrewd sense of timing by arriving in the film capital of the world with a spellbindingly beautiful daughter just when child stars were reigning supreme.

The year was 1939. The war devastating Europe had found Francis and Sara Taylor, both American nationals, running an art gallery in England for Francis’ multimillionaire uncle, Howard Young, a well-known dealer with an important gallery in New York. To avoid the growing conflict, Francis Taylor sent his wife and two children home to America while he remained behind to close out his uncle’s business. In a few weeks he joined his family in Los Angeles and opened his own art gallery.

Sara immediately identified with the glamour and excitement of the movie industry. By Christmas she was completely bewitched by the bright lights of Hollywood’s dream factories. Like so many prospectors before her, she saw southern California as a gold-bearing mother lode to be mined for great fortune. With indefatigable energy she began making social contacts with anyone prosperous who might be associated with movies or interested in buying art from her husband.

She took her seven-year-old daughter with her everywhere and relished the reactions of people getting their first look at Elizabeth. Often there would be an audible intake of breath when someone saw the porcelain face haloed by its wreath of coal-black curls. The most arresting feature of this child’s flawless face was the pair of sapphire-blue eyes framed with a double set of long black lashes. So blue were those eyes that in certain lights, they would seem violet. The first gasp would usually be followed by an exclamation: “What a beautiful child!” “Why, she’s just exquisite!” “Absolutely gorgeous!”

Sara would smile proudly and look at her daughter. “Say ’Thank you,’ my angel,” she would purr, and little Elizabeth would smile, say “Thank you,” and curtsy just as her mother had taught her. It was a charming performance, designed to impress.

No traces remained of the ugly baby Sara had given birth to on February 27, 1932. She sometimes winced when she remembered the strange little bundle the nurse had placed in her arms that day. Her reaction had been one almost of revulsion. The baby’s eyes were squeezed shut and remained so for ten days, while her splotchy red face was crinkled and covered with black fuzz. Elizabeth Rosamund Taylor’s mother was heartsick, especially when she thought of the Botticelli-beautiful boy she had borne two years before. But Sara turned her mind over to the Christian Science religion of Mary Baker Eddy, fully believing that her baby would be healed of its defects if only she willed it so.

Soon after moving to California, Sara joined a Christian Science church and enrolled her children in Sunday school. Although the Taylors could not afford to send their youngsters to private schools, Sara insisted that Elizabeth be given dancing lessons in a class with the daughters of many movie executives.

What Sara had anticipated soon happened. Through the parents of a child in her dancing class Elizabeth was asked to screen-test for Metro-Goldwyn-Mayer, and one of the patrons of Francis Taylor’s art gallery asked her to test for Universal Studios. Convinced that her abiding faith had paid off, Sara told her gleeful eight-year-old that if God wanted her to be in movies, she would most certainly be in movies. “Divine love always has met and always will meet every human need,” she said, with Christian Science confidence.

Over her husband’s objections, Sara spent hours preening Elizabeth for both these studio introductions. She ran scales on the piano, drilled Elizabeth in her manners, and had her curtsying around every corner of the house. Too passive to voice real objections to his wife, Francis Taylor worried about the effect of all this activity on his daughter, but Elizabeth quickly assured him that she wanted to be an actress “just like Mommy.”

Mommy never tired of telling her daughter about her years on the stage when she performed in stock companies under the name of Sara Sothern. Hating her maiden name of Warmbrodt because it sounded so guttural and unglamorous, Sara had it officially changed before departing Arkansas City, Kansas. With a new name but no money, she left home before finishing high school and made her way to the stage. She worked as an actress until 1926, when she married Francis Taylor. “I gave up my career when I married Daddy,” she said, “and all the king’s horses and all the king’s men couldn’t have made me take it up again.”

Possibly true, say skeptical friends; but all the king’s horses were not thirty years old when they married, either. “Sara, who was four years older than Francis, was almost an old maid in 1926,” recalled a family friend. “She was thirty years old, and the prospect of finally landing a husband, and such a gorgeous one, too, was worth giving up a less-than-stellar career.”

Still, Sara never forgot that she had once been an actress who had received rave notices in England. Elizabeth was enthralled by her mother’s glamorous past and told her classmates she wanted to be an actress when she grew up.

“I knew . . . there would come a time when she would want to follow in my footsteps,” said Sara Taylor. “I could still hear the applause of that wonderful night . . . when The Fool had opened in London at the Apollo Theater and I, playing the part of the little crippled girl, had stood alone in the middle of the stage and taken a dozen curtain calls, while a reputedly staid British audience called, ‘Bravo, bravo, bravo!’”

For the audition at MGM, Sara dressed Elizabeth in a ruffled pinafore and patent-leather Mary Janes. She also carefully dressed herself. To simulate the silk stockings she could not afford, she rubbed suntan lotion on her legs and drew a dark seam with an eyebrow pencil. Before leaving the house, she sat Elizabeth down with her Christian Science prayer book and instructed her to think good thoughts. They repeated this routine a week later when Elizabeth auditioned at Universal.

When both studios made offers, the child begged her mother to sign with Metro, where Clark Gable was king and twenty-year-old Mickey Rooney was the number one box-office star in the business. But Sara, playing power broker, decided to pit one studio against the other. She told Universal that MGM had offered Elizabeth $100 a week. Universal promptly offered a contract of $200 a week, and Sara grabbed it. She told her daughter she would be much better off at the smaller studio because she would be given more time and attention.

Universal Studios gave Elizabeth Taylor three days’ work in a movie called There’s One Born Every Minute. Then, a year later, it declined to renew her option. Universal felt she didn’t look as if she could ever be a star. She didn’t have dimples like Shirley Temple. She couldn’t sing like Judy Garland. She couldn’t dance like Jane Powell. She couldn’t cry on command like Margaret O’Brien. The final blow was delivered by Universal’s casting director. “Her eyes are too old,” he said.

Sara Taylor was devastated. Losing Elizabeth’s salary in June of 1942 did not bankrupt the family, but the loss was felt. Francis and Sara had put aside half the Universal money to be held in trust until Elizabeth was twenty-one, as they were required to do by law. The other half—approximately $4,000—had allowed them to live less close to the edge in the flats of Beverly Hills.

The overseas war had now reached America—and this meant rationing and coupons at home. There was little surplus money available, especially in the art business, and Francis Taylor began spending long idle hours in his gallery.

The effort to defeat Hitler and Mussolini united America and England. This Allied front aroused pro-British sentiments throughout the country, but nowhere to a greater degree than in Hollywood, where Louis B. Mayer of Metro-Goldwyn-Mayer worshiped all things English. Vivien Leigh and Laurence Olivier were lionized as the golden lovers of the era. Greer Garson emerged as MGM’s first lady when her movie Mrs. Miniver won seven Academy Awards and swept the boards as the most popular motion picture of 1942.

During that year MGM had to recast the part of a little girl with a British accent to play opposite Roddy McDowall in Lassie Come Home. The child originally selected had grown too tall by the time her scenes were to be filmed, so the studio started searching for short girls with British accents. The producer, Sam Marx, knew Francis Taylor and had noticed that his British-born daughter was small for her age and very pretty. He called the art gallery to see if Elizabeth might be interested in trying out for the small role.

Francis called his wife. Within minutes Sara and ten-year-old Elizabeth were speeding to MGM, nearly blowing the gaskets out of the family’s secondhand Chevrolet.

“Oh, Mommy, Mommy, Mommy,” Elizabeth chanted, “I’m going to be in movies, I’m going to be in movies.”

Sara remembered what had happened at Universal and how disappointed Elizabeth had been.

“If it’s right for you to have it, my precious, you will,” she said. “But if it’s not God’s design for you, it won’t be right.”

Elizabeth got the part of the little girl who sets Lassie free and was paid $100 a week as a free-lance player. Variety mentioned her in passing as a pretty moppet who showed up to good advantage. The New York Times ignored Elizabeth and hailed the collie as “the most remarkable performer in this film.” Still, MGM seemed satisfied enough to offer her a long-term contract at $75 a week. This time Sara did not even try to negotiate. She signed without an argument, figuring she would get an agent and renegotiate later. Elizabeth jumped up and down with excitement and raced out to tell her thirteen-year-old brother, Howard, who remained unimpressed.

Her gentle father was happy for her, but apprehensive. Sara, of course, was enraptured, and from this point on the career of her daughter became the passion of her life.

She rolled Elizabeth’s thick black hair in rags every night so the stovepipe curls would hang perfectly. She starched and ironed the hand-me-down dresses her daughter received from their neighbor Anne Westmore. She accompanied Elizabeth to the studio every morning and made sure she learned how to hit a mark on the floor without looking and how to work within the nimbus of her key light. She shepherded her to the studio acting classes, dancing classes, singing classes, makeup sessions, and costume fittings. And she was always on the set, delivering subtle signals behind the director’s back. Sara also saw to it that Elizabeth read her Scripture lessons every day on the set and attended Christian Science Sunday school every week. For these relentless efforts in her daughter’s behalf, MGM designated Sara legal guardian and chaperone and paid her from Elizabeth’s salary for every week that the child worked.

For aspiring stars and starlets, Metro-Goldwyn-Mayer was then the mecca of movie studios—the richest, the biggest, the best. Producing one full-length feature film every week, this fantasy factory boasted as its motto “More stars than there are in the heavens.” By the time Elizabeth Taylor walked onto the lot, the crowns of Joan Crawford, Greta Garbo, Norma Shearer, and Myrna Loy had been passed to Greer Garson, Judy Garland, Katharine Hepburn, and Lana Turner. Other studios produced stars like Rita Hay worth and Betty Grable, but MGM remained the studio renowned for its glamorous movie queens.

Acclaimed internationally for assembling the greatest aggregate of creative manpower, MGM was the world’s biggest entertainment enterprise—with the largest number of famous people ever controlled by one organization.

Sprawling over 167 acres in Culver City, this magic kingdom consisted of parks and lakes and a private zoo. There were a red brick schoolhouse, a playground, a hospital, and a commissary where Louis B. Mayer put his mother’s chicken soup on the menu and placed matzohs on every table. There were an avenue of cardboard building fronts straight out of New York, a Paris boulevard, and a street of houses with white picket fences where Andy Hardy lived. Cavalry units in full-dress uniform shot blank cartridges and charged through paper jungles on one lot while three-ring circuses jumped through plastic hoops on another.

This fantasy world was the exclusive domain of Louis B. Mayer, a short Russian immigrant who loathed homosexuals, Communists, and intellectuals but loved children, especially little children under contract to MGM. They provided the magic that brought millions of people stampeding into theaters every week for movies of laughter and music and patriotism. It was the children who wove the spell of innocence and hope. They were the good, clean, wholesome elements of the folksy entertainment that was MGM’s specialty.

In order to keep his stars shining, Mr. Mayer, as he was fearfully addressed, instituted the Department of Special Services, better known as the publicity department. From this area flowed the real power of the studio, for it was the efficient and thorough publicists who created and packaged the stars.

“Publicity people formed us in those days,” recalled Peggy Lynch, a Metro featured player. “They really shaped our persona, our psyche, our selves. They chose the image they felt would be best for us; then they would fine us and take the money from our paychecks if we did not live up to that studio image. I was supposed to be the girl-next-door type and act as a wedge against June Allyson not to let her get out of line, the same way Kim Novak was later supposed to keep Rita Hay worth in check. If I went to the store in a man’s shirt hanging out of a pair of jeans, like we did in those days, I’d be fined. That was considered detrimental to the star system. As a pretty princess type, Elizabeth was never once fined by Publicity because her mother kept her dressed perfectly at all times.”

Not content with merely creating its stars, the studio manipulated their lives—arranging dates, orchestrating courtships and engagements, planning marriages, even announcing divorces. Along the way, it took care of anything that might threaten the star system—an arrest, adultery, or an occasional abortion.

“We did everything for them,” said Howard Strickling, former MGM publicity head. “There were no agents, no personal press agents, business managers, or answering services in those days. All these services were furnished by the MGM publicity department. No other studio did it quite the way we did. We told the stars what they could say and what they couldn’t, and they did what we said because they knew that we knew best. When things went wrong, we had a way of covering up for that, too.”

Homosexual male stars posed a problem for the studio publicity department because of Mr. Mayer’s frenzy on the subject. So all single men were required to publicly date studio starlets and be photographed looking brawny and tough. Naturally, MGM men were encouraged to marry so that Louis B. Mayer would be reassured of their masculinity. He was rabidly suspicious of any unmarried male star who did not chase women.

Metro-Goldwyn-Mayer guarded its female stars even more carefully. “They had to stay as pure as the driven snow,” said Ann Straus, head of the studio portrait gallery. “Metro girls didn’t smoke or drink or swear, and Metro girls never ever had sex before marriage. Our girls could never have done that.”

Understandably, the MGM publicity department was the perfect vehicle for a stage mother like Sara Taylor. She now had an entire staff of people who were paid to help her make her daughter a star. She knew that the studio publicists would be as obsessively possessive of Elizabeth as she was and just as enterprising in her behalf. Still, Sara took no chances.

On her own, she began cultivating friendships with the most powerful columnists in Hollywood. With Elizabeth in tow, she visited Louella Parsons to gush over her cocker spaniel, “Jimmie.” Then she called Hedda Hopper to say that Elizabeth was begging to see “Wolfie,” Miss Hopper’s beloved mutt, and ask whether she might bring her over. Miss Hopper, of course, was charmed. Sheilah Graham, who was British, was regularly invited to tea. When the studio arranged a luncheon interview for Elizabeth with Adela Rogers St. John, Sara bought a pink rosebush for her daughter to take as a gift, knowing that the famous Hearst columnist was inordinately proud of her rose garden.

Craving affection and approval, Elizabeth was eager to please her mother by cooperating with the MGM publicity department. She loved posing for photographs and could sit for hours while someone curled her hair. But more cooperative was Sara Taylor, who took great liberties in spinning tales of Elizabeth growing up in England. Catering to MGM’s pro-British sentiments, Sara waxed eloquent about an upper-class world of nannies and chauffeurs and elegant estates in the English countryside. She alluded to garden parties at Buckingham Palace and royal dancing classes with the little princesses, Elizabeth and Margaret Rose. MGM publicity dutifully ground out stories about its new contract player incorporating all of these fantasies.

“The years we lived in London were such wonderful years of grandeur, pomp, and ceremony,” Sara said. “There was the wedding of the Duke of Kent and the beautiful Princess Marina ...”

Sara was nothing if not upwardly mobile. Her breathless recitation of the Silver Jubilee of King George V made it sound as if she had actually shared crumpets with Queen Mary in the royal box instead of merely watching from the sidelines like everyone else. Still, Louella and Hedda loved it. So did Sheilah and Adela. Soon short items appeared in their syndicated columns about “the beautiful little British-born Elizabeth Taylor.” By shrewdly exploiting the dual citizenship which linked Elizabeth to England and America, Sara ensured that her daughter would be considered for any movie needing an English child.

After a bit part in Lassie Come Home and another bit part in The White Cliffs of Dover, Elizabeth was “loaned” to 20th Century-Fox to die of pneumonia in Jane Eyre. Still, she was merely a featured player, unheralded and unbilled. The stars were Margaret O’Brien, hailed as “extraordinary,” and Peggy Ann Garner, a blond wisp who was reviewed as “desperately appealing.” Elizabeth Taylor did not merit a notice. In fact, she did not even get a screen credit. But Sara was not concerned. Her precious angel was already in training for her next role, which her mother was convinced would lift her to stardom.



CHAPTER 2


HAVING ONCE SEEN ELIZABETH TAYLOR on a horse, Pandro S. Berman considered her for the lead in National Velvet. He looked again and reconsidered. “Pretty enough, but just too small,” said the MGM producer.

That was in the fall of 1943, when Elizabeth was eleven years old but only as tall as a first-grader. She would not have been convincing then as Velvet Brown, the British youngster who disguises herself as a boy, sneaks into the jockeys’ weighing room, and rides her horse to victory in the Grand National Sweepstakes.

But Berman decided to wait for her to grow. He sent his assistant, Billy Grady, to tell Elizabeth and her mother the story of National Velvet, the best-selling novel by Enid Bagnold about a little girl who fantasizes about winning a horse named The Pi in a village lottery. She wins the horse and has another fantasy about entering The Pi in the Grand National. Then Velvet Brown fantasizes about winning the world’s most prestigious and demanding steeplechase. Her mother, who once swam the English Channel, encourages her. “Everyone should have a chance at a breathtaking piece of folly at least once in his life,” she says.

So, with the help of a failed jockey to be played by Mickey Rooney, Velvet begins to train her horse. Then, disguised as a boy, she rides it to victory. When her sex is discovered, Velvet is disqualified, but she doesn’t care: she has fulfilled her dreams by pulling off a magnificent ruse that any little girl on earth would have loved to call her own.

Elizabeth wanted the part of Velvet because Berman promised that the studio would pay for her riding lessons at the Dupee stables, where she would learn how to steeplechase and jump horses. Sara, of course, wanted her to have the part because it was a major star-making role. She convinced her daughter that she was indeed Velvet Brown, and Elizabeth, so very impressionable, was transformed into the young English girl. She turned her bedroom into a horsey boudoir of bridles, saddles, and statues of horses, and began calling herself Velvet.

“National Velvet was really me,” she said years later, still believing her childhood fantasy.

Each day Sara would pray with her daughter from the Christian Science prayer book before going into Berman’s office at MGM, where he would measure Elizabeth against his office door. When she was tall enough to play opposite Mickey Rooney, he planned to schedule shooting. “Considering that Mickey was only titty-high, she really didn’t have to grow that much,” said the producer.

Later Sara and MGM decided, for publicity purposes, that this account was not dramatic enough; they put forward another story claiming that Elizabeth, to win the coveted role, had actually willed herself into growing three inches in three months. Sara was quoted as saying that when she took her daughter into Mr. Berman’s office, he told her Elizabeth was just too short for the role. She said that Elizabeth, with great conviction, answered, “I will grow, Mr. Berman—I will grow into the part.” And, said Sara, whispering at the wonder of it all, she did grow. “She promised that she would, and I think she started growing from that very minute.”

Elizabeth too preferred the more arresting version. In an early demonstration of blending fantasy with reality, she always parroted the MGM story as if it had really happened that way.

National Velvet took seven months to shoot and gave Elizabeth her first lesson in how excruciating moviemaking could be. “I worked so hard on that movie,” she recalled. “I worked harder on that film than in any other movie in my life.”

She got up every morning before school and rode for an hour, practicing on a skittish horse by the name of King Charles who would be The Pi in the movie. All the difficult jumps on the racecourse were performed by a professional jockey, but Elizabeth did the rest of her own riding. While none of the scenes in which she rode was particularly dangerous, she still had to spend long hours developing her horsemanship.

The role of Velvet Brown called for Elizabeth to wear orthodontic braces. The studio initially sent her to a dentist who made a set of gold braces for $120 and a set of silver braces for $86. Both sets were tested in Technicolor, but neither was photogenic. So a new wire brace with a false palate was custom-designed, and Elizabeth was called in to test it. Two of her baby teeth were pulled and two temporary teeth inserted in the raw sockets so that the appliance would fit properly.

Watching his daughter suffer so for this role made Francis Taylor angry. When MGM wanted to cut Elizabeth’s hair so that she would look like a male jockey, he balked. The studio checked with its lawyers to see if Elizabeth could legally be made to cut her hair.

After several conferences, the legal department stated this conclusion in an in-house memorandum: “This is an unreasonable request and we do not have a contractual right to require her to disfigure herself or alter her appearance to this extent.” Thus, Elizabeth kept her hair and wore a wig.

This was the first and last time Francis Taylor ever took such a stand. In fact, his position as husband, father, and head of the household was slowly eroding. That year Elizabeth bought two Valentines. One she gave to her father, and forgot to sign it. The other went to her movie father, Donald Crisp. On it she wrote: “From your littlest daughter with love, Velvet.”

Making that movie became the focus of Elizabeth’s days and her mother’s as well. Sara accompanied her every minute she was on the set and continued the secret signaling whenever she felt her daughter’s performance was lagging. “The California state law is that any child working in a studio must be accompanied at all times by a parent or guardian until he or she is eighteen,” Sara explained. “I would have been with her anyway. It was the only way we could have allowed her to be in pictures.”

More than parental protection motivated Sara. She was as entranced as her daughter by the glamorous movie stars she saw daily in the MGM commissary. Elizabeth satisfied her infatuation by carrying an autograph book and begging for the signatures of Spencer Tracy, Katharine Hepburn, and Hedy Lamarr. At the same time, Sara was pestering studio publicists for an introduction to Clark Gable.

“I was Elizabeth’s camera double in National Velvet,” said Margaret Kerry, “and about the only thing I remember is cringing every time I heard her mother speak. I can still hear her say, ’Oh, Elizabeth’ in that voice of hers.” Miss Kerry’s impersonation of Sara’s high-pitched tone skitters up the scale, growing shriller with each succeeding note.

“‘Oh, Elizabeth,’ her mother would call out after every scene. ‘Oh, Elizabeth, darling. Come along.’” recalled Miss Kerry. “And Elizabeth, who was very well behaved in those days, would obediently respond, cooing, ‘Coming, Mother dear.’”

Elizabeth’s own speaking voice was never properly developed for range or dimension by the MGM drama coach. “We’d all go to Lucille Ryman for our daily lessons,” said Margaret Kerry, “and Miss Ryman coached all of us—Susan Peters, Donna Reed, Kathryn Grayson, Elizabeth, and me—to come out sounding identical.”

Margaret Kerry also recalled that Elizabeth had a flair for the melodramatic not unlike her mother’s. “I was standing in for Elizabeth in scenes where you’d just see her back,” she said. “During one part I was next to Angela Lansbury when a man kicked her in the leg so hard I could hear the thwack on her bone. It nearly killed her. And as soon as it happened, Elizabeth ran over to Angela, threw her arms around her, and said, ‘Oh, Angela, Angela. Are you all right? Are you hurt?’ She screamed and cried and wept and moaned and it was all very theatrical, but still I think she cared.

“Originally, Mona Freeman was cast as Elizabeth’s older sister in the movie,” continued Margaret Kerry, “but one day she was suddenly replaced with Angela. Elizabeth and I found Mona outside the sound stage dissolved in tears. That really shook up Liz. She never knew until that very moment that anyone could be replaced. It frightened her.”

It also prompted her to work hard, going to great lengths to endear herself to the director, Clarence Brown, who became quite paternal toward his young player. One day, after watching the rushes, someone put a gold star on Elizabeth’s dressing room door and “MISS TAYLOR” on the sign. Brown insisted that the star be removed and “ELIZABETH” put on the sign instead.

“He was afraid I would be hurt about it,” said Elizabeth, “and he explained that he was afraid it might go to my head, or wherever it does go that makes people change—and he wanted me always to stay the same. I knew what he meant because Mummie and I had talked it over before, and I promised him with all my heart that I would never, never change. ...”

That vow was inevitably broken once National Velvet was released. The movie was a smash hit. Critics hailed Elizabeth’s “burning eagerness tempered with sweet fragile charm.” When the Academy Awards were presented, Anne Revere won the Oscar for best supporting actress as Velvet Brown’s mother and Robert J. Kern received an Oscar for film editing. But it was Elizabeth Taylor who became a star.

“Elizabeth Taylor is as natural and excellent a little actress as you would ever hope to see,” said the New York Post.

“It makes a star of 12-year-old Elizabeth Taylor,” claimed Pic magazine.

“She really did a wonderful job in that movie,” recalled producer Pandro Berman. “Afterwards she came to me and said, ’I never cared so much about anything in all my life as I do about that horse, King Charles.’ So I went to Louis Mayer and said I thought it would be a wise gesture and a good business investment to give Elizabeth the horse. It was the only thing she cared about, and she had done a splendid job in the movie.”

Again the studio lawyers were consulted. They discussed the possibility of giving away a property purchased for $800 and now worth $500. Finally, according to a 1945 legal memo, they decided on a conditional gift. Elizabeth would get the horse “with the understanding that if we need him in future retakes he will be available to us at any time and without cost.”

On her thirteenth birthday she received a call from Benny Thau, the studio personnel chief, informing her that King Charles would be hers. A few weeks later she received another surprise present from MGM. In appreciation of her performance in National Velvet, the studio awarded her a bonus of $15,000.

The chasm between featured player and star had finally been bridged. It had taken MGM five years of small roles and bit parts to make Judy Garland a star. The big studio and the stage mother had accomplished the same feat for Elizabeth Taylor in half that time.

With her daughter now established as one of MGM’s outstanding assets, Sara Taylor wasted no time. Her suggestion that Elizabeth get a new contract produced a quick raise in her weekly salary—from $200 to $750. For forty weeks’ guaranteed work, thirteen-year-old Elizabeth Taylor now earned $30,000 a year. Also included in the new contract was a clause directing $250 a week to Mrs. Taylor. Thus Sara earned $10,000 a year for acting as her daughter’s chaperone—compensation that was deducted from Elizabeth’s salary.

Although she tried to have it deleted, Sara could do nothing about a clause stipulating that ten percent of Elizabeth’s gross salary had to be used to purchase U.S. war bonds and stamps. She did, however, manage to steer her daughter into the lucrative realm of commercial tie-ups, or CTU’s, as they were called in the forties.

The first commercial agreement paid $3,000 for the use of Elizabeth’s photograph in an endorsement of Lux soap. Next came CTU’s with Woodbury soap and Max Factor cosmetics; then a greeting-card company which promised to pay thousands for one of Elizabeth’s drawings, followed by Elizabeth Taylor paper dolls and Elizabeth Taylor coloring books. She also received $3,000 for every radio appearance, half of which went to Sara Taylor as a fee for coaching her daughter.

One of the most effective commercial agreements was with Duell, Sloan and Pearce for a book titled Nibbles and Me. For her first effort as an author, celebrating her trained chipmunk Nibbles, Elizabeth received $1,000. The seventy-seven-page book, with “illustrations by the author,” was submitted to “Dear Mr. Editor” by Elizabeth in her penciled longhand. The deft touch of MGM publicity surfaced in the letter Elizabeth wrote the publisher: “The lady at the studio said she didn’t want us to have this typed because she thought you would rather have it as it is.”

First there was Lassie, then The Pi, and now Nibbles. The book put the finishing touches on the studio image of Elizabeth Taylor as a sort of little-girl reincarnation of St. Francis of Assisi. The publicity department arranged for pictures of her to appear in fan magazines surrounded by her pets—a golden retriever, a cocker spaniel, a black cat named Jeepers Creepers, her horse, eight chipmunks, and a squirrel. Quite predictably, her next picture was Courage of Lassie, in which she received top billing over the famed MGM collie. Still, some critics were more impressed with the dog. Wrote the New York Herald Tribune: “Lassie walks off with all the acting honors, which is as it should be.”

That film was released in 1946, the year more people went to the movies than at any other time in history. For the flood of veterans returning from the war with high hopes and little money, movies provided cheap entertainment. Young GI’s and their wives flocked to see the films of Van Johnson, Gary Cooper, Bob Hope, Humphrey Bogart, Greer Garson, Betty Grable, Roy Rogers, Bing Crosby, Ingrid Bergman, and Margaret O’Brien, the top ten stars in the world.

Elizabeth had been insulated from the war. Her father had been too old to enlist and her brother too young. Mickey Rooney was one of the few persons she knew to actually go into the armed services. Living on Elm Street in Beverly Hills and attending school in the single classroom at Metro-Goldwyn-Mayer also shielded Elizabeth from the reality of the outside world. Although she was thirteen years old when President Roosevelt died, his death had little impact on her, partly because her parents were such staunch Republicans that they totally ignored the nation’s intense grief.

Nor were the Taylors impressed by Roosevelt’s successor. “Why, he’s just a merchant, a haberdasher,” Sara told friends when Harry Truman took office. But Sara’s distaste for Truman was quickly forgotten in January of 1946, when she was invited to accompany Elizabeth to the White House for a radio broadcast with Bess Truman. Elizabeth later told her mother that President Truman looked exactly like Louis B. Mayer, the head of MGM.

Elizabeth’s only vivid recollection of the war years is celebrating V-J Day with her family in Chicago during a train layover. Those memories do not revolve around the mass celebration of the war’s end as much as around herself as a newly minted movie star.

“We were so surprised to find in all the excitement that crowds of people recognized me as Velvet and wanted my autograph,” she said at the time. “It made me feel very happy. I felt dazed by all the noise.”

Such moments of elation were often followed by periods of brooding depression when Elizabeth called in sick and took to her bed for days at a time. The studio chose to consider these layoffs instead of sick days, so Elizabeth still was paid—as was Sara.

Elizabeth’s first illnesses seemed a reaction to changes taking place within the family which she was too young to comprehend. These changes began when Elizabeth was “loaned” to Warner Brothers to do Life with Father. The movie took five months to shoot. By the middle of it, Sara was in love with the director, Michael Curtiz, a fifty-eight-year-old Hungarian who is best remembered for directing Casablanca and discovering Doris Day. To the lusty Curtiz, Elizabeth’s fifty-year-old mother represented merely another romance—one that would end as soon as the film was completed.

That brief affair ruptured the Taylors’ marriage for a time. In the fall, Francis left with his son for Wisconsin to stay with his uncle, Howard Young. Elizabeth remained in Hollywood with her mother. During the separation her times of sickness increased. Although the studio’s legal files show at least two absences a month through the year, she was officially charged with only five days of illness and so had to forgo only five days of pay. Most of her 1946 absences occurred in November, the month her parents separated.

“I think that is more coincidence than anything else,” said a friend. “She really wasn’t that upset when her father moved out of the house. I don’t think it bothered her very much at all.”

Elizabeth admitted as much herself. “It was no special loss,” she said. “I had felt fatherless for years anyway. I looked upon my agent, Jules Goldstone, and Benny Thau of MGM as my two fathers. I went to them for help and advice.”

At the time, Elizabeth was filming Cynthia, a movie that cast her as a sickly teen-ager whose physical frailties were intensified by her overprotective parents. “I think she might have carried her ill and ailing on-camera role into real life,” said a co-worker.

Off camera, MGM was hovering anxiously. When Elizabeth’s face sprouted a small blemish, the studio doctor was summoned and she was dismissed from work to consult a top dermatologist in Los Angeles. When she stepped on a nail, she was rushed to the studio hospital in an ambulance. A minor cough demanded thoracic examination. In the beginning it was the attentive studio that reacted to any physical ailment or cosmetic affliction, but soon the juvenile star was alerting the studio. A production memo from one of Elizabeth’s early movies shows the type of attention she came to expect as a teen-ager:

 

At approximately 9 A.M. today Elizabeth Taylor phoned to the set from the makeup department to advise that one of her eyes was bloodshot and wanted to know whether she should have it checked at the studio hospital. She was advised to see the director first, whereupon she came to the set. The director said it would not interfere with shooting. Dr. Blanc was called. He arrived at approximately 11 A.M., gave her an eyewash lotion, and advised that it was nothing serious. . . .

Earlier in the week there had been another production memo:

 

On Tuesday, July 6, Elizabeth Taylor complained of a slight irritation on her nose when she was in makeup. Dr. Blanc was called; he examined her and advised that she could be made up. . . .

 

Besides the fretting over her health, there were other changes, As the little girl of National Velvet suddenly grew up, co-workers like Mary Astor, who played her mother in Cynthia, saw Elizabeth’s childish shyness and sweetness disappearing.

“I had seen Elizabeth from a distance in the MGM commissary during the making of National Velvet,” said Miss Astor, “and she had at that time a serious, dedicated look. That was gone; she was no longer quite as shy, and she was beginning to be conscious in a very normal, teen-age way of her own beauty. She was also bright. Very bright. Head-of-the-class type of brightness. For a kid, she concentrated very well on the work—and I liked her. But I liked another ‘daughter’ better—Judy Garland. Judy was warm and affectionate and exuberant. Elizabeth was cool and slightly superior. More than slightly. There was a look in those violet eyes that was somewhat calculating, as though she knew exactly what she wanted and was quite sure of getting it.”

By this time Elizabeth definitely knew that she wanted to be a movie star. She had a row with her mother one day at the studio, and Sara, waspish because of her marital problems, snapped at her daughter for doing her work badly.

“Elizabeth, if you aren’t interested in doing well whatever you have to do—then quit,” she said. “It’s up to you.”

That night Elizabeth wrote her mother a “sorry” note. “I’ve done a lot of thinking,” she said, “and I realize that my whole life is being in motion pictures. For me to quit would be like cutting away the roots of a tree—I’d soon wilt and become dead and useless.”

Elizabeth thrived on her studio life. She loved going on location trips and making movies. She enjoyed receiving fan mail. She was thrilled to see herself on the cover of Life. She relished her special status as an MGM celebrity, especially her proximity to other movie stars.

“It was tremendously thrilling to go into the commissary for lunch,” she recalled. “They were all there—Judy Garland, Lana Turner, Spencer Tracy, Hedy Lamarr. And there was the lovely sweet smell of the Pancake makeup the women wore. ...”

There was also the indescribable scent of sex in the air whenever women like Ava Gardner glided by. Fourteen-year-old Elizabeth was especially intrigued by glamorous stars like Lana Turner. She saw the looks they got when they walked into a room. All heads turned. And there was something more than admiration in the reactions of men. She wanted to stimulate the same kind of response. So she painted her fingernails and toenails scarlet; splashed toilet water all over herself; wore earrings the size of bracelets, and full skirts and peasant blouses with plunging necklines. She cinched in her waist as tightly as she could and stood straight, thrusting her breasts forward as if offering the world two huge dollops of freshly whipped cream.

“I was constantly having to watch Elizabeth in those off-the-shoulder blouses,” recalled Ann Straus. “She’d just discovered how much attention she could get when she wore one, and when she discovered that, she was impossible. She’d have herself paged during lunch and then she would pull her shoulders down and walk through the commissary—the entire length—so everyone could see her. I’d always pull those shoulders up whenever I could, but she was too fast for me sometimes.”

But apparently not fast enough for Sara, who did nothing to discourage her daughter from trying to look older. In fact, she promoted the effort, pushing her headlong into womanhood.

“I still remember when Elizabeth was only thirteen years old and went to Washington to launch the March of Dimes campaign with Mrs. Truman in the White House,” recalled a friend. “Sara dressed that little girl in a black velvet dress, a white fur coat, and a pair of seamless nylon stockings. Of course, Sara dressed herself in pastel frills befitting an ingenue, but she had Elizabeth looking like a Joan Crawford hussy.”

Like a hothouse flower artificially forced to spread its petals, Elizabeth bloomed before her season. At fifteen she had blossomed into a staggeringly beautiful woman whose looks suggested dark, seductive secrets. The writer J. D. Salinger was overwhelmed when he first saw her. “She is the most beautiful creature I have ever seen in my life,” he said.

One day Elizabeth was sitting idly at the children’s table in the commissary, wearing one of her provocative off-the-shoulder blouses, when a magazine photographer approached and asked if he might take pictures of her in a bathing suit. Elizabeth turned to her mother for approval.

“Oh, I think that would be lovely, darling,” said Sara, who proceeded to arrange a session at the beach for the next day. Elizabeth posed in a one-piece white bathing suit and the photographer snapped hundreds of pictures, each one exquisite.

“You have no bad angles,” he informed her. “In fact, I think you are the most beautiful woman I have ever photographed, and I’ve photographed every one in the world.”

“Oh, golly,” squealed Elizabeth. “Did you hear that, Mother? Did you hear what he said? He said I was the most—”

“Yes, my angel, I heard him,” said Sara, and quickly repeated his words to her good friend Hedda Hopper. The next day Miss Hopper’s column proclaimed fifteen-year-old Elizabeth Taylor the most beautiful woman in the world.

Sara was in regular communication with all the leading Hollywood columnists by this time, but Hedda was her favorite—the one she always called first. (Shortly before Elizabeth’s fifteenth birthday, Sara became ill and contacted her estranged husband, begging him to come home and try to make a go of their marriage. Francis Taylor dutifully went to his wife’s bedside to comfort her and then agreed to try a reconciliation. The next day he read about it in the newspaper. The item was headlined, “ELIZABETH TAYLOR’S PARENTS REUNITED.” The by-line: Hedda Hopper.)

Capitalizing on the newest bloom in its garden, MGM tossed the flowering starlet into A Date with Judy, a glossy musical designed to promote a pretty blond singer by the name of Jane Powell. Elizabeth had the secondary role of a beautiful young girl from an affluent background who was spoiled and sophisticated. It was a rich-girl role she would play to perfection for years.

Sara Taylor remembers A Date with Judy as the movie that launched her daughter from child stardom to screen seductress. “That was the beginning of the glamour buildup,” she said.

Sara was right. The New York Herald Tribune said that the erstwhile child of National Velvet had disappeared and in her place was “a real 14-carat, 100-proof siren with a whole new career opening in front of her.”

Despite the reviews, the most beautiful fifteen-year-old in the world could not get a date. She continued pulling down her shoulders, hiking up her skirts, and belting in her waist to show off her perfect figure. Her determined mother bought her a black strapless evening gown and let her wear lipstick every day, but no one asked her out. Finally, in desperation, Sara asked her seventeen-year-old son, Howard, who was attending Beverly Hills High, to bring his friends home to meet his sister. Howard replied that his friends wouldn’t be interested in a movie star. Sara insisted. She even staged cookouts and beach parties to attract Howard’s friends. Sara’s efforts still did no good. The boys simply ignored Elizabeth.

“Elizabeth would come to my house weekends and she would spend hours telling dreamy stories about handsome Prince Charmings,” recalled girlhood friend Gaylen McClure. “She was pretty idealistic and childish. When I took her to parties, she didn’t know how to act with boys.”

During this time Elizabeth spent hours by herself lying on her bed daydreaming. She played games of make-believe with her animals, making chirping sounds like a squirrel and tweeting like a bird. Comfortable in her fantasy world, she felt unsure of herself away from it. She read Archie comic books and devoured stories in fan magazines about movie stars, their mansions, their gowns, their furs, and their priceless jewels. The “fannies,” as they were called, became the cornerstone of her formal education while movies formed her ideas of love and romance and the ways of the world. She confided to her neighborhood chum that after getting her first screen kiss in Cynthia, she “practiced kissing” with a pillow every night.

She also “practiced looks”—sitting in front of a mirror for hours trying out expressions, posing and puckering her lips. She once startled a photographer by posing in a tight sweater and inquiring, “What sort of a look do you want now—one that says I’m waiting for time to go by?”

Elizabeth became fixated on romance, drawing pictures of herself wrapped in a man’s arms and writing dreamy poems and rhymes. Sara destroyed the morbid poetry that reflected her daughter’s adolescent depressions, but she allowed selected writers to see some of Elizabeth’s happier rhymes. One was entitled “My First Kiss.” Another was called “Loving You”:

 

Loving you
Loving you
Could be such heavenly bliss,
And as our hearts would tenderly kiss,
I would know how happy I could be . . .
Happier still, if only you’d love me.
If only you’d love me.

 

“I did a lot of reading, painting, drawing in those days,” Elizabeth later recalled. “Anything that was escapism, I suppose. I went to the movies all the time. Horseback riding meant everything to me—the friendly isolation, the solitude, the companionship with the animal.”

Sara remained her daughter’s best friend and constant companion. “Elizabeth and I are so close we think as one person,” she said.

“I told her every kind of inside fear I had,” said Elizabeth.

And her biggest fear in 1947 was that she would never get a date. She was heartsick about it—and her mother was almost panic-stricken.



CHAPTER 3


“MOTION PICTURES ARE NOTHING MORE than beautiful photographs,” Louis B. Mayer was fond of saying. And it was on that premise that Metro-Goldwyn-Mayer built its empire, giving its beautiful women as much screen exposure as they needed to become box-office sensations. Beauties like Ava Gardner and Lana Turner were cast in movie after movie; such unrelenting exposure created millions of loyal fans who would flock to whatever film they were in. In 1948, MGM executives estimated that a maximum investment of $150,000 in a female star would eventually make the Metro lady worth at least $2.5 million to the studio.

By her sixteenth birthday, MGM considered Elizabeth Taylor a wise investment. After eight movies in five years she was not yet getting star billing, but she was well beyond the featured-player stage. Unlike Margaret O’Brien and Shirley Temple, she had made the transition from child star to ingenue without awkwardness. With stardom only a few steps away, the studio raised her salary to $1,000 a week and increased her exposure.

During the filming of Julia Misbehaves, the director, Jack Conway, stopped production to throw a surprise birthday party for the young starlet. MGM, knowing of her near-obsession with clothes, gave her the sophisticated wardrobe she wore in the movie. Her parents presented her with a solid-gold key to a baby-blue Cadillac—but refused to give her driving lessons. Yet all Elizabeth Taylor really wanted for her birthday was a date with a young man. The studio soon took care of that too, by producing as an escort an All-American football player from West Point by the name of Glenn Davis.

“I had come home from the Army in the summer of 1949 to play an exhibition game for Army against the Los Angeles Rams,” Davis recalled, “and Hubie and Doris Kearns took me out to Malibu to meet Elizabeth. Doris worked in the publicity department of MGM, and Elizabeth was a famous young girl at the time.”

Davis was known throughout the country as “Mr. Outside,” the halfback who made football history at the U.S. Military Academy with his running partner, Doc Blanchard, nicknamed “Mr. Inside.” Formerly co-captain of the West Point football team, Davis also was the star of the basketball team and captain of the baseball team.

Matching America’s hero with the most beautiful teen-ager in the world seemed inspired, especially to Sara Taylor. “When I saw that frank, wonderful face, I thought, ’This is the boy.’ I felt such a sense of relief. My worries were over,” she said.

Elizabeth was filming MGM’s remake of Little Women at the time. When not needed at the studio, she would race to the Malibu beach house her family had rented for the summer. A frequent companion was her stand-in, Marjorie Dillon.

“Elizabeth never wanted to be alone, and so I would always go along with her,” said Miss Dillon. “She did not feel secure by herself. She needed someone with her all the time, even to go for a soda, or to go shopping.

“Although everyone was always telling her how great she was, how beautiful she was, how spectacular she was, she needed even more reassurance. She was constantly asking, ‘How do I look?’ ‘Do you like my hair this way or should I set it again?’ ‘Do you think I should wear this color or would I look better in that color?’ She worried constantly about how she looked and was always looking in the mirror for blemishes. She once said, ‘If I don’t feel I look really good, I feel just awful physically.’ She showered three times a day and changed her clothes all the time. Her mother had impressed on her the importance of good grooming, and it’s about all she thought about.”

In Little Women MGM once again typecast Elizabeth, putting her in the role of the pretty but spoiled Amy March. The movie was designed to spotlight June Allyson, MGM’s reigning sweetheart, with Elizabeth, Janet Leigh, and Margaret O’Brien as costars. Always standing by was Sara Taylor, ready to tell anyone who would listen that it was her own appearance as Amy in an Arkansas City presentation of Little Women that had inspired her theatrical career.

Elizabeth’s summer romance with Glenn Davis, meanwhile, was as prim and proper as any in Louisa May Alcott’s novel. Recalled Davis: “We didn’t drink or smoke, and I never laid a hand on her. We kissed and stuff like that, but we certainly didn’t sleep together.”

“Elizabeth felt Glenn’s epaulets and that was about it,” said a man who knew them both during the summer of 1948.

Their dates included family barbecues at Malibu; playing touch football on the beach with Elizabeth’s brother, Howard, and his friends; and going to the movies with Janet Leigh and her date. One of the most memorable dates occurred on August 26, when Glenn took Elizabeth to a Los Angeles Rams intersquad game where he set a record of 10.8 seconds for the 100-yard dash wearing full football equipment and carrying a football. Elizabeth did not understand the significance of the accomplishment, but she was dazzled by the swarms of reporters chasing Glenn and the photographs that appeared in the newspapers the next day.

In the fall of that year, Movietone News recorded Elizabeth flinging her arms around Davis at the airport as he was leaving for Korea. She was inconsolable, especially since she had tried so hard to keep him home.

Months before Davis was scheduled to ship out, Elizabeth called newspaper columnist Frank Farrell when she was in New York. “I was a close friend of her great-uncle, Howard Young, and so I too was called ‘Uncle,’” recalled Farrell. “Elizabeth asked me to pick her up at eight P.M. at the Plaza. When I arrived, she informed me we were going to Mamma Leone’s on Forty-eighth Street.

“‘Christ sakes,’ I said, ‘We’ll be mobbed.’ But she insisted, saying, ‘Oh, no, we won’t. Please, Uncle Frank. I want to go there. I just must go there.’ So, of course, we went there. Little did I know that the West Point officers were having dinner at Mamma Leone’s that particular evening. She’d already called the restaurant and made a reservation in my name. We arrived and were led to a table surrounded by fifty damn Army officers. As a Marine I wasn’t exactly in seventh heaven, but Elizabeth didn’t care. She knew that the West Point football coach, Red Blaik, would descend on us to say hello, and her primary purpose for being there was to talk to Red. She was determined to get Glenn Davis out of the Army and onto a pro football team so he wouldn’t have to go to Korea.”

The coach came to the table and Elizabeth pounced on him with her project. Rather taken aback by her boldness, Red Blaik said he couldn’t do much to help her, but he jokingly suggested that she talk to her Uncle Howard, who was a good personal friend of General Eisenhower.

“Elizabeth cornered Howard the next day,” said Farrell, “and I told him if he had the balls to actually go to Ike with this one, he’d be a bigger man than I was.”

As Francis Taylor’s rich uncle, Howard Young had enabled the Taylors to enjoy a life-style they otherwise could never have afforded. They vacationed with him at his ranch in Wisconsin, at his winter home in Florida, and at his country estate in Connecticut. The multimillionaire art dealer lived in a New York penthouse overlooking Central Park with his alcoholic wife, Mabel, who spent her days with round-the-clock nursing care. Mumps at the age of twenty-two had deprived Howard of the ability to have children, so he took special pleasure in his namesake, Howard Taylor, and Elizabeth, whom he spoiled outrageously. When she begged him to talk to his friend Dwight D. Eisenhower to keep Glenn Davis at home, Howard Young did not want to disappoint her, so he approached the General with the request—and was promptly turned down.

“Ike said that Glenn Davis was an Army officer first and a football player second and that if he was summoned to Korea he would, by God, go to Korea, and that was the end of that,” recalled Frank Farrell.

Before leaving, Glenn Davis gave Elizabeth his gold All-American football and she put it on a chain around her neck. “This football means I’m engaged to Glenn,” she said. With tears in her eyes, she kissed Davis goodbye. “I’m going to wait for Glenn and we’ll marry when I’m eighteen or nineteen. As soon as I finish my picture, I’m going to Korea to see him,” she announced. “I love Glenn and want to be with him.”

In October, MGM shipped her to England to make The Conspirator with Robert Taylor. Sara accompanied her, of course, but Francis Taylor could not afford to join them. “I don’t see how I can, as I am not doing much business right now and it costs such a lot to travel that distance,” he told his gallery assistant.*

As Elizabeth’s star rose, so did her life-style and that of her mother. For the London trip they had a bedroom-and-livingroom suite at Claridge’s and a personal studio representative to handle all press relations. A private teacher supplied by the Los Angeles Board of Education made sure that Elizabeth spent three hours a day at her lessons as required by California law. During their stay Sara and Elizabeth insisted on a side trip to Paris, demanding luxurious accommodations plus a car and driver to take them sight-seeing and shopping. The studio paid for everything. In addition, it had a basket of twenty-four white orchids waiting in their suite when they arrived in London. What most impressed Elizabeth, though, was a much smaller bouquet—a dozen red roses that cost Glenn Davis, who was still in Korea, a month’s pay and a lot of trouble to have sent.

“We’re engaged to be engaged,” she said, confiding that the twenty-three-year-old Army lieutenant had proposed and that she had accepted.

“She was so in love,” recalled her mother. “She wrote Glenn every night and never went out on a date the five months we were there.”

In one of her nightly letters, Elizabeth said that when she had to give her screen kiss to Robert Taylor she merely closed her eyes and pretended it was Glenn. Of course it wasn’t as good as kissing Glenn, she said, but it helped her get through the scene.

“They told her to kiss,” recalled Robert Taylor, “and she kissed. The only thing I had to teach her was to powder down her lips.” The powder was necessary so that Elizabeth’s enthusiastic kissing would not smear her costar’s makeup.

Playing the screen wife of Robert Taylor was her first adult role, but the movie was so uninspired that MGM refused to release it until her career was more secure. Studio officials were pushing their Elizabeth Taylor investment toward stardom, but there was a growing concern about the dividends.

“Elizabeth was a bit of a worry then to all of us,” said Pandro Berman, the MGM producer who made her a star in National Velvet. “We recognized her beauty, but she didn’t have the strength of voice at sixteen or the personality to go with her face. . . . She was half child, half adult, and she was actually not as good an actress as she had been at the beginning, making Courage of Lassie or Life with Father.”

Actually, Elizabeth cared more about getting married than about making movies. After The Conspirator was finished, she and her mother met Francis Taylor in Florida, where Uncle Howard was planning a huge party to celebrate Elizabeth’s seventeenth birthday. Her best present was a telephone call from Glenn to say that he would be furloughed on March 1 and would meet her at her uncle’s home.

Before Glenn arrived, Elizabeth was introduced to a handsome twenty-eight-year-old man by the name of William D. Pawley, Jr., who took her to a few parties. His multimillionaire father had been ambassador to Brazil and Peru, and when Sara saw how wealthy and socially prominent his family was, she began having second thoughts about Glenn Davis.

Accompanying her daughter to the Miami airport a few days later, Sara tried to divert the photographers from recording the passionate kiss Elizabeth planted on her returning hero’s lips. Despite her efforts, pictures of the handsome returning Army officer being embraced by the famous movie star appeared around the world.

“I flew to Uncle Howard’s place straight from Korea,” recalled Glenn Davis. “I was wearing my uniform and that was about it. I had no civilian clothes with me, and not very much money.”

However, Davis was carrying a cultured-pearl necklace with sixty-nine graduated pearls for Elizabeth’s seventeenth-birthday present, plus a ruby-and-diamond ring—a miniature of his crested West Point ring—in a blue velvet box, which he planned to give her before the formal announcement of their engagement. She got the pearls, but she never received the engagement ring.

“It just never happened,” said Davis. “She had started dating that rich guy, Pawley, and—let’s face it—he showed her a better time than I did. The guy was real slick. He gave a party for us when I arrived. I stayed there for about a week or ten days of high-stepping and then I took off. I just said ‘Screw it’ and left.

“I wasn’t exactly broke at the time—I had twenty thousand dollars from starring in The Spirit of West Point—but I sure as hell couldn’t compete with Pawley’s millions. Liz’s family didn’t have any money at all and that concerned her mother a lot, so Sara really pushed this Pawley deal.”

The very ambitious mother was also concerned about appearances, and that was where the young lieutenant blundered.

“When Glenn Davis showed up in his T-shirt and Army trousers at Howard Young’s formal dinner table, that did it for Sara,” recalled Frank Farrell. “Yet Sara was no one to talk about good manners. Her biggest preoccupations in life were her Christian Science religion and her blocked bowels, which she would discuss ad nauseam.”

Glenn Davis left Florida carrying the engagement ring he had bought for Elizabeth, but not the gold football she had worn for seven months. “I suppose I’ll give it back,” she told a reporter, “but he did say I could keep it.” She also kept the cultured-pearl necklace with the sixty-nine graduated pearls.

“Liz called me a few weeks later and said, ‘Please do me one last favor and take me to the Academy Awards,’ so I did, because I didn’t want to embarrass her,” Davis recalled, “but I didn’t hang around after that. That was the last time we ever really saw each other.”

Shortly after the Oscar presentations, the MGM publicity department announced the end of the romance between the All-American football hero and the most beautiful teen-ager in the world.

“Afterwards I felt pretty bad for a while,” Glenn Davis recalled, “but I’m glad now that I didn’t marry her.”*

Francis Taylor also felt bad. “We thought sixteen too young for marriage, but we never forbade it,” he said. “There would have been no point in playing the heavy-handed parent, especially when the boy in question was a splendid one.”

Elizabeth felt bad too, but for different reasons. She was concerned about the negative publicity generated by her split with Davis. “Maybe I should have fallen for a busboy or something,” she said. “Then the whole thing wouldn’t cause so much attention.”

Sara shrewdly responded to the sudden rash of bad press by calling Louella Parsons to ask her advice. During the conversation she told the Hollywood columnist that Elizabeth was still making fudge in the kitchen on rainy days and getting down on her knees every night to say her prayers.

Actually, Sara felt quite good about the split, because with Glenn Davis out of the way Elizabeth could now concentrate on the splendidly rich Bill Pawley, whose socially prominent family owned a yacht and a mansion with servants and a swimming pool. Young Pawley seemed to Sara so much more sophisticated than the young Army officer.

“Bill was twenty-eight and Elizabeth was seventeen,” Sara said. “He had been everywhere. He was tall, dark, and handsome, with deep blue eyes that matched her own. He fascinated her—and all of us—with his tales of India, China, and South America. ...”

As soon as Bill Pawley read about the breakup, he wrote Elizabeth a romantic letter declaring his love and proposing marriage. He offered to fly to California to present her with a diamond engagement ring. She called him to accept, telling him how much she loved him, but at her mother’s insistence she asked him to keep the news private until they could make a formal announcement.

Elizabeth and Sara flew to Florida in May to spend three weeks with the Pawleys at their home on Sunset Island. “They became engaged the day after we arrived,” recalled Sara, “and Elizabeth begged me to announce the engagement so she could wear her lovely diamond ring in public.”

Bill Pawley had given Elizabeth her first diamond—a 3.5-carat emerald-cut solitaire flanked by two half-carat diamonds on either side.

To announce the engagement, Sara called a press conference and for forty-five minutes did all the talking. Bill Pawley did not say a word. Neither did Elizabeth, except to instruct photographers to take pictures of her engagement ring. “Nice piece of ice,” she said. “That’s what Bill calls it.”

“Elizabeth won’t be graduated from the Metro-Goldwyn-Mayer high school until next February,” said Sara Taylor. “That’s why we’d like to wait until spring for the wedding. Elizabeth will be returning to Hollywood in two weeks to start work on a new picture.

“Yes, she will continue her career, but we aren’t talking much about that right now,” added Sara. “We’re going to let it work out.”

From the very beginning Bill Pawley had made it clear that he expected his bride to be a wife, not a movie star, and Elizabeth eagerly agreed to give up her career. It was no sacrifice, she assured her fiancé, because she was bored to death making movies. “I’d much rather make babies,” she said.

A few days later Elizabeth received a call from Sam Marx, the MGM producer who had cast her in Courage of Lassie. Marx was in Miami filming a movie, and he invited Elizabeth and her mother to tea. The Taylors accepted.

When Sam Marx arrived at the Pawley mansion, Bill answered the door and asked him what he wanted.

“I’m taking Elizabeth to tea,” he said.

“The hell you are!” roared Bill Pawley. “She’s coming fishing with me.”

Elizabeth settled the matter by saying, “Mr. Marx gave me my first chance in movies, and I told him I would come for tea and I’m going to tea.”

Bill Pawley slammed out of the house without saying a word. Elizabeth went to tea, but was tearful all afternoon. Once again Sara Taylor reassessed the situation. That night she told Bill that Elizabeth was truly in love with him and wanted to marry him, but perhaps they should let a little time and distance test their commitment to each other.

Still wearing her diamond engagement ring, Elizabeth returned to Hollywood to begin work on The Big Hangover, a romantic comedy starring Van Johnson. She spent hours every night talking long-distance to her fiancé in Florida. But tension grew as Bill pressed her to give up her career and her mother warned her against it.

Unable to make up her mind, she asked everyone around her what she should do. At times she became depressed.

“She was still going to school, getting ready for her high school exams, when we were making the picture,” recalled Van Johnson. “One day I passed her dressing room; there she was with a schoolbook in her hand, gazing at the ceiling with a tragic look.

“‘Hey, sugar,’ I said. ‘What’s wrong?’

“‘Oh, Van, I’m so depressed,’ she sighed. ‘I just feel as if I’d like to die today.’

“One couldn’t laugh,” said Johnson. “You remembered too well how it was when you were having growing pains yourself.”

But it was more than growing pains. A very immature teenager found herself in the awful position of wanting to marry her handsome rich fiancé but having to give up her movie-star career to do so. “She would have done it, too, if only her mother hadn’t made her feel so guilty about it,” said her stand-in, Marjorie Dillon. “Mrs. Taylor made Elizabeth feel that she was the sole support of the entire family and that she would be throwing away all their love and faith in her if she quit the movies.”

There was also another consideration. If Elizabeth gave up her career, Sara would automatically be off the MGM payroll. With Francis Taylor virtually retired, Sara could not afford to lose the money she was earning as her daughter’s guardian. She shrewdly proposed that Elizabeth and Bill get married, live in Miami, and stay in Hollywood only when Elizabeth was working. Bill Pawley tentatively agreed, and Elizabeth was ecstatic. “In Hollywood I would not be anything but Elizabeth Taylor,” she told Photoplay magazine. “In Miami I’ll be Elizabeth Pawley—and I’ll like it.”

Sara’s solution held things together while Elizabeth began another rich-girl role in Father of the Bride with Spencer Tracy and Joan Bennett. She announced to the press that she felt “positively drooly” playing the part of a bride-to-be on camera while looking forward to the same role in real life.

The solution fell apart on December 15, 1949, when MGM announced that Elizabeth Taylor had been “loaned” to Paramount for a highly dramatic role in A Place in the Sun, a movie based on Theodore Dreiser’s An American Tragedy. The release went on to say that Elizabeth would be appearing opposite Montgomery Clift and Shelley Winters under the direction of the legendary George Stevens.

“Oh, Mother, can you possibly believe it?” Elizabeth cried when told the news.

“Oh, my precious. I always knew you’d make the top. With the best director in Hollywood instructing you. . . .”

Bill Pawley was not so thrilled. He phoned Elizabeth demanding to know the exact date they would marry and the exact date she would give up her career.

“Bill, just as soon as I get this picture finished, then we’ll get married,” she promised.

“I thought you wanted to give up your career for me.”

“Oh, Bill, I do, I do—the moment I finish this picture.”

“I thought you were bored with your career.”

“Bill, I am. I truly am. But you don’t know what it is to work for somebody like George Stevens. ...”

“No, I don’t. I thought you loved me.”

“Bill, I do. I love you more than anything in the world. Oh, Bill, wait. Mother wants to talk to you.”

Sara took the phone.

“Bill, dear, listen,” she said. “It won’t take Elizabeth any time to make this picture—not more than five or six months at the most. And after all, she is only seventeen, and to make a picture with George Stevens—well, you wouldn’t want her to miss out on such an opportunity, and ...”

That evening Bill Pawley flew to California for a showdown with his fiancée and her family. He told Elizabeth that everything would be over between them if she didn’t give up her career that instant. He said that he had waited for her to do the Van Johnson movie and then the Spencer Tracy movie, but he wasn’t going to wait for her to do one more movie, even if it was for George Stevens, whoever the hell he was.

Elizabeth sobbed and Sara pleaded and begged, but Bill Pawley remained unyielding. He left California the next day and made the announcement to the press that his engagement to Elizabeth Taylor was broken. He admitted that her motion-picture commitments “had something to do with it.”



CHAPTER 4


WHEN THE EXECUTIVES AT PARAMOUNT PICTURES told Montgomery Clift that he was taking Elizabeth Taylor to the premiere of The Heiress at Grauman’s Chinese Theater, he refused. He hated dressing up in a tuxedo to attend what was in his opinion merely a tawdry spectacle that produced only flashbulb blindness and aching cheeks from smiling at the hysterical fans pressing against police barricades. He felt that he was a serious actor who shouldn’t have to play these “cheap movie-star games.” Besides, he had never even met the bosomy starlet he was to be paired with. “Who the hell is this Elizabeth Taylor, anyway?” he asked.

She was a gorgeous seventeen-year-old MGM princess, Clift was told, and she had recently been on the cover of Time. He remained unimpressed. He did not want to go to the premiere. The thought of having to sit in a theater with hundreds of strangers watching him watch himself on the screen seemed the worst sort of voyeurism. But Paramount insisted that he attend and that he escort Elizabeth. After all, the studio reminded him, he was now the hottest male property in Hollywood, and she was going to be his romantic costar in A Place in the Sun. Since the movie would pivot around the affair of the young lovers portrayed by Clift and Taylor, it made perfect sense to the Paramount publicity department that the two of them make a splashy public appearance together. Montgomery Clift had no choice: Paramount had produced his last movie, The Heiress, and Paramount was producing his next movie, A Place in the Sun.

At the prospect of going out with the twenty-nine-year-old Broadway actor, Elizabeth raced to Helen Rose in the MGM wardrobe department to plan her outfit for the evening. She begged the designer for something “sexy and sophisticated,” and waltzed out with a strapless net gown and a white fur cape.

Sara Taylor greeted Clift at the front door when he arrived to pick up her daughter. She was as curious as Elizabeth about this “Method” actor from New York who everyone said was so talented. Monty Clift’s sensitive good looks and charming manner left Sara gushing—so much so that Elizabeth was embarrassed. In the car she turned to Clift and said, “Sorry about Mother. She can be a real pain in the ass.”

That earthy apology, coming as it did from the lips of what appeared to be the most beautiful and virtuous young woman on earth, so startled Clift that he laughed out loud and immediately relaxed. The press agent accompanying them later told Clift’s biographer Patricia Bosworth that Elizabeth had looked ravishing that evening but had been so foul-mouthed and unconcerned about going to the premiere that she had made everyone feel at ease. Monty had dragged along his drama coach, Mira Rostova; a block before they reached the theater, Mira and the press agent leaped out of the limousine so that Monty and Elizabeth could be photographed making their romantic entrance unencumbered by chaperones.

Having braved the gantlet of shrieking fans and exploding flashbulbs, they took their seats. As the house lights dimmed, Monty slouched in his seat and began moaning as his image appeared on the screen. “Oh, God, I’m so awful, Bessie Mae,” he said to Elizabeth. “I’m so awful.”

“You’re wonderful,” whispered Elizabeth, who was mesmerized by Clift’s performance. “Really, you’re wonderful, just wonderful.”

When the movie was over, the audience shouted its approval with lusty cheering and clapping. People made their way through the crowd to congratulate Monty, telling him what a spectacular performance he’d given. He nodded and smiled and said “Thank you.” Then, laughing his strange, wild cackle, he grabbed Elizabeth’s hand and pulled her out in the aisle. “Let’s get out of here, Bessie Mae,” he said. “Let’s get out of here right now.”

Back in the limousine, Elizabeth asked in her twangy voice why he called her “Bessie Mae.” He told her he didn’t want to call her by her movie-star name. “The whole world calls you Elizabeth Taylor,” he said. “Only I can call you Bessie Mae.”

After the premiere, Elizabeth and Monty attended a party at the Hollywood mansion of William Wyler, director of The Heiress. They were among the last to leave, and it was nearly two in the morning before Clift took Elizabeth home. He walked her to the door, kissed her lightly on the forehead, and turned to go.

“Sleep well, little Bessie Mae,” he said.

Elizabeth watched him walk backward to the limousine and waited until he was in the back seat before going inside the house. Later she told her mother that Montgomery Clift was the strangest man she had ever met. Complicated, intense, and wound up, he was unlike anyone she had ever known. He took his “craft,” as he called it, seriously, and had even spent a night in the San Quentin death house to prepare for his electric-chair scene in A Place in the Sun.

This movie was based on Theodore Dreiser’s novel An American Tragedy. The author’s blunt indictment of “the American dream” and its corrupting influences had caused quite a stir when it was published in 1925. Elizabeth had no idea who Theodore Dreiser was, nor did she know why George Stevens had altered Dreiser’s characters and renamed the movie. All she knew was that she was going to play the part of a beautiful, rich socialite named Angela Vickers who falls in love with Monty in the role of George Eastman, a young, poor employee in her father’s factory. She also knew that Shelley Winters, an actress from Universal Studios, was playing the pathetic factory girl who, after becoming pregnant by Eastman, insists he marry her and give up Angela. When she persists, Eastman takes her boating, knowing she cannot swim. When the boat capsizes, he does nothing to save her.

Elizabeth had no concept of the psychological implications of the story, nor did she understand its powerful nuances of characterization. She wasn’t too concerned about her part. To her it was quite obvious what the role of Angela Vickers personified. “It’s another rich-girl role,” she said. All she really cared about was her bathing-suit scene and the flattering evening gowns Edith Head was designing for her.

George Stevens was extremely concerned about everything pertaining to the film. He had to be very careful that this movie would not be construed as un-American. He also had to convince Theodore Dreiser that the film wouldn’t cheapen the author’s condemnation of a particularly ugly facet of American life. Dreiser despised the earlier movie version made by Paramount in 1931, which depicted the George Eastman character as a homicidal sexual deviate.

Elizabeth was unaware of the blacklist. She knew nothing of the House Un-American Activities Committee and was oblivious to the vicious witch-hunting taking place in Hollywood at the time. “She was not one to read the newspaper,” said her stand-in, “and she never listened to the news on the radio. Her whole life was making movies, having fun, and wearing pretty clothes. She was too young to know what a Communist was. All she knew about was cashmere sweaters.”

To pacify the studio, Stevens discarded the negative title of the book for the more upbeat A Place in the Sun. He also renamed the characters, hoping this would increase the distance between the novel and the movie. Despite changing the title and the names of the characters, Stevens convinced Theodore Dreiser that he would remain faithful to the plot and tell the story without melodramatic contrivances. In the end, although Stevens strayed from the original story, he produced a cinematic masterpiece that reflected the American obsession with money, sex, and social standing and showed what striving to achieve them can do to a person’s character.

George Stevens needed Elizabeth Taylor in this film because of her extraordinary, almost surrealistic beauty. “The part calls for not so much a real girl,” he said, “as the girl on the candy-box cover, the beautiful girl in the yellow Cadillac convertible that every American boy sometime or other thinks he can marry.”

And Elizabeth Taylor in 1949 personified the outer reaches of male fantasy. She was breathtakingly exquisite. Her velvet skin and black sable eyebrows framed eyes so deceptively blue they frequently looked violet. Her nose was perfectly chiseled and set above the sort of full and sensuous lips that produced the fantasies of adolescence in mature men and the soppiest of verse from serious poets. There was not one flaw on her face—the only mark was a charming mole on her right cheek. Weighing 110 pounds, she claimed measurements of 37-19-36 and lied about her height, saying she was 5 feet 4 inches tall when she was barely 5 feet 2. On the screen she looked tall and willowy, so her actual height made little difference. Spilling over with sex appeal, she was indeed the kind of girl American boys dreamed of marrying. Elizabeth Taylor was the ideal woman. She had the kind of beauty that would bring all a man ever dreamed of—wealth, fame, position. George Stevens knew that with Elizabeth Taylor as his star, the audience would understand why George Eastman would kill for a place in the sun with her.

The fact that Elizabeth Taylor had so far demonstrated little acting ability was something George Stevens would worry about later. In Montgomery Clift and Shelley Winters he had two colossal talents eager to work under his renowned direction.

Shooting began in October at Lake Tahoe, a clear mountain lake with water the color of an emerald, straddling the border between California and Nevada high in the Sierra Nevada mountains. Elizabeth arrived by train from San Francisco, accompanied by her stand-in, Marjorie Dillon; her MGM schoolteacher; and her ever-vigilant mother. Montgomery Clift arrived with his drama coach, a tiny but imposing woman, and Shelley Winters was accompanied by her sister, Blanche.

The first scene on the schedule was Elizabeth and Monty making love by the side of a lake and then splashing around in the water together like playful kids having a water fight. The mountains at that time of year were so cold that patches of snow had to be hosed off the ground and smudge pots kept constantly burning.

The script called for Monty and Elizabeth to throw off their outer clothes and rush into the lake in their bathing suits, but Monty refused to disrobe. Stevens then rewrote the scene with only Elizabeth wearing a bathing suit. With the cameras ready to roll, Sara Taylor refused to let Elizabeth do the scene. She told Stevens that her daughter was menstruating and had terrible cramps and could not risk the “grave danger.”

“What’s the matter?” asked the director. “Can’t she swim?”

“Of course she can swim,” replied Sara, explaining that the “grave danger” was not drowning but exacerbating Elizabeth’s menstrual cramps and imperiling any future pregnancies.

Over Sara’s objections, Stevens insisted that Elizabeth do the scene. When she didn’t do it right, he made her do it over and over and over. Sara watched as Elizabeth ran into and out of the freezing water. At the end of the day she took Elizabeth back to the hotel and would not allow her to resume shooting for three days. Shelley Winters recalls Sara spending the rest of the time at Tahoe complaining that Elizabeth would never be able to have children because Stevens had made her go into the frigid lake in a bathing suit. For the next twenty years Elizabeth refused to work during her period and had the stipulation written into her contracts.

George Stevens was a demanding man who gave painstaking attention to every detail of his films. “I’m one of those directors who believe every element that goes into a picture affects the viewer,” he once said, “although the viewer may not realize the impact of the tiny minor things.”

Stevens’ obsession with minutiae included the installation of a Stutz Bomber motor in a boat that skims the lake while George Eastman rows the pregnant factory worker to the spot where he intends to leave her drowning. The noise generated by the Stutz motor is ominous, creating a mood of impending disaster.

In a lecture to the American Film Institute, Stevens said that what interested him most in making A Place in the Sun was the relationship of opposing images. “Shelley Winters busting at the seams with sloppy melted ice cream ... as against Elizabeth Taylor in a white gown with blue ribbons floating down from the sky. . . . Automatically there’s an imbalance of images which creates drama.”

So effective was Stevens in establishing these opposing images that Shelley Winters literally got sick when she saw herself as the drab, pregnant, and unwed Alice Tripp looking at a newspaper photograph of her lover motorboating with the beautiful Angela. Although this was one of the best parts she would ever play and one that was to earn her a nomination for an Academy Award, she resented having to look so ugly alongside Elizabeth Taylor’s beauty. At one point she asked Stevens if Elizabeth had to look quite so gorgeous in the movie.

“I was kidding, but I wasn’t,” Shelley Winters said. “I mean, with that beautiful black curly hair, enormous violet eyes, tiny waist, and gorgeous bosom. . . . Besides that, she kept driving an enormous white convertible Cadillac through the picture.”

Shelley admitted that for the rest of her life she drove a succession of white convertible Cadillacs simply to make up for her feelings of deprivation during A Place in the Sun and Elizabeth’s overwhelming beauty in the picture.

As beautiful as she was, Elizabeth still wasn’t much of an actress. Stevens was aware of her basic shortcomings and spent most of his time working with her to get the performance he wanted. Elizabeth was accustomed to the adulation of MGM directors who were delighted to have her merely appear in front of their cameras looking pretty. She had never worked with anyone like Stevens, who demanded take after take of her scenes and called for physical gestures and vocal inflections she had never thought of. Stevens constantly talked to her about her role, telling her over and over again the type of girl she was portraying. When he couldn’t get the results he wanted, he sometimes baited her. Other times he ignored her and concentrated on Clift. Once, in exasperation, he reminded her that this movie was not entitled Lassie Comes Home to a Place in the Sun. Humiliated by the insult, Elizabeth burst into tears and ran off the set. Stevens kept on working as if nothing had happened. He later accused the MGM princess of fits of “distemper,” saying, “If we had a little something that would disappoint her, if she thought I was more severe in my aim than the scene needed to be in a make-believe thing like a movie, she’d spit fire.”
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